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DECISION


The Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission (MHTC) may seek civil penalties in circuit court against Rainbow Connection, Inc. (Rainbow) for 19 violations related to record keeping and drug testing.  

Procedure


On December 20, 2001, the Division of Motor Carrier and Railway Safety (Division) Staff filed a complaint before the Division’s hearing officer.  The Division Staff’s duties transferred to the MHTC, and its hearing officer’s duties transferred to this Commission on July 11, 2002.
  This Commission convened a hearing on the complaint on November 20 and 27, 2002.  Gary J. Holtmeyer, Jr., the MHTC’s assistant counsel, represented the MHTC.  Carla G. Holste,

with Carson & Coil, PC, represented Rainbow.  At the hearing, we took several objections with the case. 


Rainbow argues that Petitioner’s Exhibit 28 does not meet the requirements of the Business Records Act, § 490.692.
  We admit Petitioner’s Exhibit 28 because it meets the requirements of § 536.070(10), which provides:


Any writing or record, whether in the form of an entry in a book or otherwise, made as a memorandum or record of an act, transaction, occurrence or event, shall be admissible as evidence of the act, transaction, occurrence or event, if it shall appear that it was made in the regular course of any business, and that it was the regular course of such business to make such memorandum or record at the time of such act, transaction, occurrence, or event or within a reasonable time thereafter.  All other circumstances of the making of such writing or record, including lack of personal knowledge by the entrant or maker, may be shown to affect the weight of such evidence, but such showing shall not affect its admissibility.  The term “business” shall include business, profession, occupation and calling of every kind.

Petitioner’s Exhibit 28 is a printed receipt, signed by Rainbow’s employee, from a gas station for the purchase of 92.665 gallons of gasoline.  Rainbow kept it in its records.  As a retail sales receipt, it is a writing made as a record of a transaction.  As a machine-printed sales receipt, it appears to have been made in the regular course of business, and it appears to have been the regular course of such business to make it within a reasonable time thereafter.  We admit Petitioner’s Exhibit 28.  It forms the basis of our Finding 2(a).  


Rainbow objected to the testimony of the MHTC’s fact witness regarding documents that allegedly proved a violation of a regulation.  The MHTC’s witness testified that he examined them during an inspection, but the MHTC did not proffer them at the hearing.  Rainbow raised a hearsay objection.  We agree with Rainbow because the documents are clearly out-of-court 

statements.  The purpose of the witness’ statement at the hearing was to offer as true the proposition that Rainbow’s employees were on duty during certain hours.  The testimony was hearsay; it was an out-of-court statement offered to show the truth of the matter asserted.  The possibility of an exception to the hearsay rule for the documents, if the MHTC had offered them into evidence, does not make the testimony admissible.  State v. Davison, 920 S.W.2d 607, 609 (Mo. App., W.D. 1996).  The MHTC argues that the records are unavailable because Rainbow did not produce them in response to a subpoena or in discovery, but the MHTC’s decisions to not copy them when they were available and not enforce its subpoena or discovery do not justify an exception to the hearsay rule.  We sustain Rainbow’s objection.  


The MHTC filed the last written argument on February 27, 2003.

Findings of Fact

1. Rainbow is a corporation.  It transports property for hire on Missouri highways.  At the relevant times, Rainbow employed the following persons to drive its vehicles:  

(a) Jeffrey Moore

(b) Jason Luckett

(c) Larry D. “Pete” Butner

(d) Christopher Mathis

(e) John Henry Wunderle

(f) Terrill Cotton

All vehicles at issue had a gross weight rating of 26,001 pounds or greater, and they mostly hauled dirt and rock.  

2. On June 5, 2001, Luckett falsely logged his driving time as 6:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., but he was still driving at 5:35 p.m.  Luckett did so on instructions from Rainbow never to log more than ten hours of duty time per day no matter how many hours he actually worked.  On 

July 23, 2001, Rainbow permitted Moore to transport property on public roads in Missouri by a commercial motor vehicle (drive) without keeping a log of the time he reported for duty and was released from duty.  Rainbow maintained no accurate time record for those employees on those days.  

3. Rainbow permitted the following employees to drive on the following dates:

(a) Butner


August 1 and 27, 2001

(b) Wunderle

August 1, 2001

(c) Cotton


August 15, 2001

Rainbow received no results from Butner’s pre-employment drug test before August 7, 2001, and it never did a pre-employment drug test for Wunderle and Cotton.  Each of those employees had previously been employed as a driver.  Rainbow possessed signed releases from Wunderle and Cotton allowing their previous employers to release drug test results for the previous two years, but it neither sent any such release to nor received such drug test results from any of the three employees’ previous employers.    

4. Mathis tested positive in a random drug test on a sample collected on September 27, 2000.  The testing lab mailed the result to Rainbow on October 11, 2000, and Rainbow received it.  Rainbow did not receive any negative drug test result on Mathis before it permitted Mathis to return to duty.  On April 26, 2001, Mathis rear-ended and disabled another vehicle.  He received a citation for careless and imprudent driving, which is a moving traffic violation.  Rainbow did not obtain a post-accident drug test for Mathis.  On July 2, August 13, and August 16, 2001, Mathis was again driving for Rainbow.  Rainbow received no negative drug test result for Mathis until August 17, 2001.  

Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear the MHTC’s complaint.  Section 621.040, RSMo Supp. 2002.  

Our authority “extends only to the ascertainment of facts and the application of existing law thereto in order to resolve issues within the given area of agency expertise.”  State Tax Comm'n v. Administrative Hearing Comm'n, 641 S.W.2d 69, 75 (Mo. banc 1982).  This Commission “simply determines, on evidence heard, the administrative decision of the agency involved.”  Geriatric Nursing Facility, Inc. v. Department of Social Servs., 693 S.W.2d 206, 209 (Mo. App., W.D. 1985). 

Rainbow has the burden of proof under § 622.350, which states:

In all trials, actions, suits and proceedings arising under the provisions of this chapter or growing out of the exercise of the authority and powers granted in this chapter to the [MHTC], the burden of proof shall be upon the party adverse to the [MHTC] to show by clear and satisfactory evidence that the determination, requirement, direction or order of the division complained of is unreasonable or unlawful as the case may be.

(Emphasis added.)

I.  Charges

The MHTC’s complaint cites §§ 390.176 and 622.480, which both provide:

2.  Every violation of the provisions of this or any other law or of any order, decision, decree, rule, direction, demand or requirement of the [MHTC], or any part or portion thereof, by any [motor carrier] is a separate and distinct offense, and in case of continuing violation each day's continuance thereof shall be and be deemed to be a separate and distinct offense. 

3. In construing and enforcing the provisions of this chapter relating to penalties, the act, omission or failure of any officer, agent or employee of any [motor carrier] acting within the scope of official duties of employment, shall in every case be and be deemed to be the act, omission or failure of such [motor carrier.]  

(Emphasis added.)  Rainbow is a motor carrier as defined at § 390.020(18):

“Motor carrier”, any person engaged in the transportation of property or passengers, or both, for compensation or hire, over the public roads of this state by motor vehicle.  The term includes both common and contract carriers[.]

That section allows the MHTC to seek penalties against Rainbow for each violation of the law by Rainbow’s employees.  

1.  Incorporation of Federal Regulations

The MHTC argues that Rainbow violated § 307.400.1, which provides:

It is unlawful for any person to operate any commercial motor vehicle licensed for more than twelve thousand pounds either singly or in combination with a trailer, as both vehicles are defined in section 301.010, RSMo, unless such vehicles are equipped and operated as required by Parts 390 through 397, Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, as such regulations have been and may periodically be amended, whether intrastate transportation or interstate transportation. . . .

(Emphasis added.)  The Director of the Department of Public Safety’s Regulation 11 CSR 30-6.010(1) reiterates that requirement. 
  A “commercial motor vehicle” is defined at § 301.010(7) as “a motor vehicle designed or regularly used for carrying freight and merchandise[.]”  Rainbow is subject to that requirement because each of the vehicles at issue is a commercial motor vehicle as defined.  The MHTC argues that Rainbow has violated six provisions of the federal regulations incorporated into regulation and statute.  

2.  Logs and Records 

The MHTC cites Regulation 49 CFR § 395.8 (eff. June 18, 1998),
 which provided:

(a) Except for a private motor carrier of passengers (nonbusiness), every motor carrier shall require every driver used by the motor carrier to record his/her duty status for each 24 hour period using [either the prescribed form or an on-board recording device].

*   *   *

(e) Failure to complete the record of duty activities of this section or § 395.15, failure to preserve a record of such duty activities, or making of false reports in connection with such duty activities shall make the driver and/or the carrier liable to prosecution.

(Emphasis added.)  


Rainbow argues that it is exempt under Regulation 49 CFR § 395.1, which provides an exemption for its drivers from that record keeping requirement as follows.  

(e) 100 air-mile radius driver.  A driver is exempt from the requirements of Sec. 395.8 if:

*   *   *

(5) The motor carrier that employs the driver maintains and retains for a period of 6 months accurate and true time records showing:

*   *   *


(iii) The time the driver is released from duty each day[.]

The exemption applies if Rainbow kept its own accurate and true time records.  Rainbow produced no time records and did not show that it kept any.  Therefore, the exemption does not apply.  


Rainbow is liable for one violation of Regulation 49 CFR § 395.1(a) because Moore kept no record of the time he reported for and was released from duty on July 23, 2001.
  Rainbow is liable for one violation of Regulation 49 CFR § 395.1(e) because it instructed Luckett to make a 

false report of his duty time on June 5, 2001.
  Under §§ 390.176.3 and 622.480.3, Rainbow is liable for two offenses.  

3.  Pre-Driving Drug Test Information

The MHTC cites Regulation 49 CFR § 382.301(a), which provides:

Prior to the first time a driver performs safety-sensitive functions for an employer, the driver shall undergo testing for alcohol and controlled substances as a condition prior to being used, unless the employer uses the exception in paragraphs (c) and (d) of this section.  No employer shall allow a driver, who the employer intends to hire or use, to perform safety-sensitive functions unless the driver has been administered an alcohol test with a result indicating an alcohol concentration less than 0.04, and has received a controlled substances test result from the MRO indicating a verified negative test result. . . .

Rainbow violated that provision when it permitted Butner, Wunderle, and Cotton to drive for Rainbow for the first time without receiving drug test results for them.  Under §§ 390.176.3 and 622.480.3, Rainbow is liable for three violations of Regulation 49 CFR § 382.301(a).  

The MHTC cites Regulation 49 CFR § 382.413(b), which provides:

If feasible, the information in paragraph (a) of this section
 must be obtained and reviewed by the employer prior to the first 

time a driver performs safety-sensitive functions for the employer. If not feasible, the information must be obtained and reviewed as soon as possible, but no later than 14-calendar days after the first time a driver performs safety-sensitive functions for the employer. An employer may not permit a driver to perform safety-sensitive functions after 14 days without having made a good faith effort to obtain the information as soon as possible.  If a driver hired or used by the employer ceases performing safety-sensitive functions for the employer before expiration of the 14-day period or before the employer has obtained the information in paragraph (a) of this section, the employer must still make a good faith effort to obtain the information.

(Emphasis added.)  Rainbow possessed signed authorizations for at least two of the three employees named in the complaint, allowing their previous employers to release drug test results for the previous two years, but did not send any such release to, and did not receive such drug test results from, any of the three employees’ previous employers.  Those facts show that Rainbow made no good faith effort to obtain the required documentation.  Rainbow violated Regulation 49 CFR § 382.413(b) when it allowed Wunderle, Cotton, and Butner to drive without a good faith attempt to obtain drug test results from their previous employers.  Under §§ 390.176.3 and 622.480.3, Rainbow is liable for three violations of Regulation 49 CFR § 382.413(b).  
4.  Mathis

The MHTC cites federal regulation 49 CFR § 382.215, which provides:

No driver shall report for duty, remain on duty or perform a safety-sensitive function, if the driver tests positive for controlled substances.  No employer having actual knowledge that a driver has tested positive for controlled substances shall permit the driver to perform or continue to perform safety-sensitive functions.

The MHTC also cites Regulation 49 CFR § 382.309(b), which provides:


Each employer shall ensure that before a driver returns to duty requiring the performance of a safety-sensitive function after engaging in conduct prohibited by subpart B of this part
 concerning controlled substances, the driver shall undergo a return-

to-duty controlled substances test with a result indicating a verified negative result for controlled substances use.

Rainbow violated Regulations 49 CFR § 382.215 and 49 CFR § 382.309(b) when it allowed Mathis to drive after his positive drug test from a sample collected on September 27, 2000, and before it received a negative drug test result for him on August 17, 2001.
  The record shows four such dates (April 26, July 2,
 August 13, and August 16, 2001).  Under §§ 390.176.2 and 622.480.2, Rainbow is liable for four violations of Regulation 49 CFR § 382.215 and four violations of Regulation 49 CFR § 382.309(b).   

The MHTC cites Regulation 49 CFR § 382.303(a), which provides:

As soon as practicable following an occurrence involving a commercial motor vehicle operating on a public road in commerce, each employer shall test for alcohol and controlled substances for each surviving driver:

*   *   *

(2) Who receives a citation under State or local law for a moving traffic violation arising from the accident, if the accident involved:

*   *   *

(ii) One or more motor vehicles incurring disabling damage as a result of the accident, requiring the motor vehicle to be transported away from the scene by a tow truck or other motor vehicle.

Rainbow violated those provisions when it permitted Mathis to resume driving without requiring a post-accident drug test after the April 26, 2001, accident until the test that yielded the negative drug test result for him on August 17, 2001.
  The record shows three such dates (July 2,
 August 13, and August 16, 2001).  Under §§ 390.176.2 and 622.480.2, Rainbow is liable for three violations of Regulation 49 CFR § 382.303(a).   

5.  Total Violations


Rainbow’s violations are separate and distinct offenses as follows:

Federal Regulation 

Number of Violations

49 CFR § 395.1(a)



1

49 CFR § 395.1(e) 



1

49 CFR § 382.301(a)



3

49 CFR § 382.413(b)



3
49 CFR § 382.215 



4

49 CFR § 382.309(b)



4 

49 CFR § 382.303(a) 



3


Total Violations



19

II.  Remedies


The MHTC seeks two remedies for Rainbow’s offenses.  

a.  Authority to Sue for Penalties 

The MHTC asks for authority to seek penalties in circuit court under §§ 390.176.1 and 622.480.1, which both provide:  

Any [motor carrier that] violates or fails to comply with any provision of the [Missouri constitution] or of this or any other law, or which fails, omits or neglects to obey, observe or comply with any order, decision, decree, rule, direction, demand or requirement, or any part or provision thereof, of the [MHTC] is subject to a penalty of not less than one hundred dollars nor more than two thousand dollars for each offense. 

Because Rainbow committed 19 violations of § 307.400.1 and Regulation 11 CSR 30-6.010(1), we grant the MHTC’s request.  The MHTC may seek penalties against Rainbow in circuit court under §§ 390.176.1 and 622.480.1 in an amount not less than $1,900 and not greater than $38,000.  

b.  Order to Obey Laws


The MHTC also asks that we order Rainbow to comply with the provisions of Regulation 49 CFR § 390.3(e), which provides:  

(1) Every employer shall be knowledgeable of and comply with all regulations contained in this subchapter which are applicable to that motor carrier's operations.

(2) Every driver and employee shall be instructed regarding, and shall comply with, all applicable regulations contained in this subchapter.

The MHTC cites no authority for such an order.  It would add nothing to Rainbow’s existing obligations because Regulation 49 CFR § 390.3(e) already applies to Rainbow.  Therefore, such an order would have no practical effect and confer no effective relief.  We decline to make such an order.  

c.  Other Persons


At hearing, the MHTC suggested that other persons might be liable for the violations we have found.  However, the complaint named only Rainbow as a respondent.  Therefore, our order only applies to Rainbow, and we do not decide whether the MHTC has the right to relief as to any other person.    
Summary


Rainbow has not shown by clear and satisfactory evidence that the relief sought by the MHTC is unreasonable or unlawful.  Therefore, pursuant to §§ 390.176 and 622.480, we authorize the MHTC to seek penalties in circuit court against Rainbow for 19 violations of 

§ 307.400.1 and Regulation 11 CSR 30-6.010(1).  


SO ORDERED on April 14, 2003.



________________________________



KAREN A. WINN



Commissioner

�This case was originally styled with the name of the Division of Motor Carrier Safety Staff as petitioner.





�Section B, S. 1202, 91st Gen. Assem.,1st Reg. Sess. (2002 Mo. Laws 111, 116).   


�The parties did not brief Rainbow’s objection to Exhibit S; its admission into the record stands.  





	�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri unless otherwise noted.


�It also requires commercial motor vehicles to comply with 49 CFR 100-199, which are not at issue.  





�All other CFR citations are effective October 1, 2000.  


�The evidence on this violation was similar to, but different from, the evidence we excluded as discussed above:  the MHTC’s witness testified that he saw records from which the duty times were absent.   However, the witness was not testifying as to the truth of the out-of-court document, and Rainbow did not object.  





�The MHTC also charged that Butner, Mathis, and Wunderle falsified their logs.  We do not consider the inadmissible testimony of the MHTC’s witness, that he read records showing the inaccuracy of the drivers’ logs.   We consider the records that the MHTC introduced into evidence.  They do not appear on their face to be falsified, and we have not found that they are.  





	�Part (a) provides:





(1) An employer shall, pursuant to the driver's written authorization, inquire about the following information on a driver from the driver's previous employers, during the preceding two years from the date of application, which are maintained by the driver's previous employers under Sec. 382.401(b)(1) (i) through (iii) of this subpart:





    (i) Alcohol tests with a result of 0.04 alcohol concentration or greater;





    (ii) Verified positive controlled substances test results; and





    (iii) Refusals to be tested.





    (2) The information obtained from a previous employer may contain any alcohol and drug information the previous employer obtained from other previous employers under paragraph (a)(1) of this section.


�Subpart B includes testing positive for controlled substances.  


�In written argument, the MHTC also cites a provision in 49 CFR § 382.309 requiring compliance with a substance abuse professional’s recommendation, but that provision was not in effect until after the time at issue in the complaint.  66 Fed. Reg. 43097, 43109 (August 17, 2001).  





�Paragraph 11 of the complaint cites the regulation, and we have found that Mathis drove on July 2, 2001, as alleged at Paragraph 18 of the complaint.  We have authority only to apply that law to that fact.  J.C. Nichols Co. v. Director of Revenue, 796 S.W.2d 16, 20-21 (Mo. banc 1990), citing State Tax Comm’n v. Administrative Hearing Comm’n, 641 S.W.2d at 75.  Our conclusion that Rainbow’s conduct violated the regulation does not depend on whether the MHTC recited the regulation and the conduct in the same paragraph.  That would be the highest level of notice that the law contemplates, the level reserved for criminal actions.  The law does not require the complaint to set forth that level of notice.  Duncan v. Missouri Bd. for Arch'ts, Prof'l Eng'rs & Land Surv'rs, 744 S.W.2d 524, 538-40 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  





�In written argument, the MHTC also cites a provision requiring compliance with a substance abuse professional’s recommendation, but that provision was not in effect until after the time at issue in the complaint.  66 Fed. Reg. 43097, 43109 (August 17, 2001).  





�Paragraph 10 of the complaint cites the regulation and paragraph 18 cites Mathis’ driving on July 2, 2001.  See fn. 11.  
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